






































in which one can place the erection of the Moot
Hall in its present form. Its architectural fea-
tures, simple as they are, would all tally with a
date in the first half of the 15th century, with
the exception of the two-centred arched door-
way in the basement which is probably coeval
with the areas (enumerated above) of rougher
rubbly masonry; doorway and masonry may be
in situ survivals of the earlier Moot Hall
referred to in the 1355 letter.

The overall form of the Moot Hall today
remains in, or has been restored to, very much
that in which it was rebuilt, It remains to
chronicle the evidence of various alterations
and restorations.

Post-Medieval Changes

The earliest illustration of the building,
Grimm’s drawing of the east face, made in the
early 18th century, depicts it in virtually the
same condition as late 19th- and early 20th-
century photographs show. The first-floor win-
dow above the gateway arch was round-arched,
with imposts and keystone—a Classical form
implying that it was of late 17th- or early 18th-
century date. The present external stair is of
much the same period, as were the two square-
headed doorways at the head of the stair. The
second floor window had been mutilated from
its medieval form to a plain square-headed
opening.
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By the 18th century houses had been built up
against the north and west faces of the Moot
Hall; old illustrations of the west side of the
building (for a selection, see Charlton 1987,
10-13) show that the first-floor window above
the gate passage had been converted into a
round-arched sash like its companion on the
east, and there was a clock set on a large
diamond-shaped wooden panel (which out-
lasted the clock face) on the face of the tower
above. The small medieval window of the
chamber in the tower at second-floor level had
been enlarged to a rectangular sash.

Internally, the vaulted chamber in the base-

~ment was divided into three rooms by thin
cross walls (see plan, Hodges 1888, plate 55);
these were removed in the early 20th century;
photographs of ¢.1922 (Gibson Collection,
Northumberland County Record Office,
11602-5) show the basement with the scars of
these walls, as if they had been recently
removed. The NCH account refers to the origi-
nal doorway on the east as having been
blocked up; presumably it was re-opened, and
the vault beneath the stairs modified to accom-
modate it, in the earlier 20th century. Both the
Bulmer’s Directory and NCH accounts seem in
error when describing the windows of the
basement; the former refers to the loop in the
north wall as being “of two lights” (which it
clearly never was), and the latter both repeats
this error and states that the second window
(also a single-light loop) was ““of four lights”.

The first floor of the building had been
heavily altered internally; the account in Bul-
mer’s Directory (1886, 325) refers to it as ‘“‘so
completely modernised that no ancient fea-
tures are left”. By the 19th century the second
floor hall had been divided by an inserted
ceiling; below this, no medieval features were
visible; a fireplace had been inserted in the east
wall (its stack can be seen rising from the
parapet on several old pictures), and this was
only removed in the 1970s. Neither Bulmer’s
1886 nor the NCH (1896) accounts refer to the
fireplace in the west wall, but this must have
been rediscovered shortly afterwards as Hod-
ges’ Guide to the Priory Church (1913, 90)
illustrates the room with the plaster stripped

from the walls and the inserted ceiling removed
(except for its beams), and describes the fire-
place as having “had some rich details, all
hacked off” (ibid., 95). Some of the Gibson
photographs of 1922 also show the hall in this
condition.

Restoration

Periodic spells of restoration have taken place
at various times during the 20th century,
although documentary records of some of
these prove elusive! Structural repairs were
taking place in 1927, as this date is incised on
the cement around the tie-bar inserted through
the upper part of the south-western tower; the
rebuilding of the parapets probably dates from
this time. The sash window in the tower at
second-floor level is shown as restored to its
present medieval appearance on a 1951 photo-
graph (Hexham Courant 13 July 1951); this
may also have been part of the 1927 works.

At some early to mid-20th-century date the
two square-headed doorways at the head of the
external stair were replaced by a new doorway
and a two-light window of medieval appear-
ance; the window on the north of the garde-
robe projection was also re-medievalized.

The old houses clustered against the north
and west walls of the Moot Hall were probably
demolished in 1951; the above-mentioned
article in the Courant, entitled ‘““The Moot Hall
Rediscovered” refers to them being cleared in
a recent ‘“‘spring cleaning” of the town;, no
further record of these demolitions has been
traced, or of any archaeological investigation
that may have taken place at this time.

At some time during this period the dam-
aged medieval fireplace in the second floor hall
was reconstructed using artificial stone; in an
8mm cine film of the Moot Hall made by
Councillor Jack Pescott in November 1975 it is
stated that this work was carried out by
Mr.Lockhart. The film shows the hall as still
appearing semi-derelict, as it had in the ¢. 1922
photographs; it also shows details of features,
such as the second-floor garderobe and the
machicolation slits in the floors of the cham-
bers opening off the south end of the second-
floor hall, now hidden.
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A major scheme of restoration was
embarked upon in 1977, for which some draw-
ings survive. These show that at this time new
stonework was introduced to fill up the sockets
of the inserted ceiling beams, and the fireplace
in the east wall was removed; they also show
intended changes to the roof structure which
were not in fact carried out. Another of Coun-
cillor Pescott’s cine films records the reopening
of the Moot Hall (and Old Gaol) by Bill
Butler, former Director of the Northumbria
Tourist Board, on 5 June 1980, when this phase
of restoration was complete (article and photo-
graph in Hexham Courant 13 June 1980).

IV THE OLD GAOL

The Old Gaol, sometimes still referred to as
the “Manor Office” is a rectangular three-
storeyed tower c. 18-0 by 11-0m externally, with
walls 2-3m thick at ground floor level. There is
a chamfered plinth or set-back c.2m above
ground level on north, east and south, and 1m
on the west, where there is a raised forecourt;
there is a second chamfered set-back combined
with a moulded string course at the base of the
second floor. The building was originally top-
ped by an oversailing parapet carried on triple-
stepped corbels (much like that at the Moot
Hall); the parapet has been removed, and in its
place is a C20 concrete slab.

The walling material is generally of roughly-
squared and coursed stones, smaller and less
regular than those used in the Moot Hall; there
are occasional courses of larger blocks (pre-
sumably re-used) and, above and below the
second floor set-back, two or three courses of
much larger well-squared blocks.

Description

The Ground Floor

The ground floor of the building is entered by
an early 20th-century doorway on the west,
opening into a small square slab-roofed lobby

within the thickness of the wall. On the north
of the lobby is a heavily-restored square-
headed doorway into the circular well of a
newel stair. The foot of the empty stair well is
lit by a 20th-century window with above it an
original square-headed loop, chamfered all
round and cut in a single block of sandstone,
now cracked. The inner doorway from the
lobby has a two-centred chamfered arch, and
has old stonework in its inner lintel and inner
north jamb (which has old bar holes).

The ground floor of the building is divided
into two approximately square rooms by a
transverse wall 0-9 m thick, constructed of mas-
sive roughly-coursed rubble. Both rooms have
been covered by a semicircular barrel vault,
made up of long roughly-shaped stones; each
has an opening in its floor dropping into a
vaulted prison or dungeon beneath.

The doorway from the lobby opens into the
south-west corner of the northern room, which
is lit by a large 20th-century window below
(and cutting away the sill of) an original
trefoil-headed light, with sockets for a grille of
bars set rather strangely several centimetres
inside its internal splay. In the east wall is a
small L-plan garderobe, extended southwards
by breaking through into the square shaft
dropping from the second floor garderobe. A
pair of 19th-century lancet-shaped arches sup-
port the truncated end of the vault, alongside
the present stair.

The present doorway between the two
ground floor rooms is of 19th-century date; its
predecessor, now blocked, had a two-centred
arch and is visible alongside the stair. The
southern room has a large 20th-century win-
dow in its south wall, but no evidence of any
original light.

The Dungeons

Beneath each of the ground-floor chambers is a
barrel-vaulted dungeon, entered by a square
opening in the centre of each chamber floor.
Both are roughly square, but the northern is
rather deeper (3-7 as opposed to 3:0m below
the present ground floor). The northern retains
its original entrance hatch, rebated for a trap-
door, in the centre of the vault; the opening
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into the southern has been enlarged, to allow
the insertion of a cast-iron newel staircase,
which remains intact, although the upper part
of its handrail has been removed. The walls of
both the dungeons are quite featureless, except
for a small slit in the crown of the vault of the
southern, against the end wall, which may
connect with a tiny loop or vent in the external
wall face.

The First Floor

The present access to the first floor is by means
of the inserted dog-leg stair, which appears to
be of mid-19th-century date. From the landing
at mid-height, the line of the removed barrel
vault can be traced against the south wall (the
cross-wall), with a patch of brick infilling
directly above.

The first floor of the building is divided into
the stair well and three rooms by three inserted
transverse walls; each of the rooms has a
shallow segmental vault (possibly of brick),
plastered over. The walls flanking the stair well
are of coursed rubble, with brickwork indicat-
ing the positions of 19th-century chimney flues.
The original newel stair in the west wall is set in
an internal projection of rather irregular plan,
and lit by another square-headed loop cut into
a single slab; the original doorway, square-
headed and chamfered, opens from the stair
onto the landing in the present stair-well.

The only old features in the northernmost
room (Room 2), are a restored single-light loop
in the west wall and the remains of a large
fireplace on the north. The room on the south
of the stair-well (Room 1) has a mullioned
window on the west, increased in size at some
time by having its sill lowered. North of a large
20th-century window in the east wall, and only
visible externally, is a blocked med1eval win-
dow of two trefoil-headed lights.

The transverse wall containing this doorway
is quite thick (c.80m) but like the others
appears to be a late insertion. The walls of the
narrow room beyond are all plastered; this was
the strong room of the 19th-century solicitor’s
offices (which may explain the thickness of the
transverse wall), and remains unaltered from
this period. On the west is an old two-light

window identical to that in the previous room,
its internal splay partly blocked by the trans-
verse wall, and on the east an old trefoil-
headed loop.

The Second Floor

The dog-leg stair rises from the first floor to a
landing against the east wall; here a marked
horizontal change in masonry type can be seen,
from coursed (and quite badly worn) roughly-
squared stone to large squared blocks of near-
ashlar quality, some showing distinctive
Roman diagonal tooling. This change in fabric
type is at approximately the same level as that
visible externally on all four walls of the
building.

At second floor level there is a single room
on either side of the stair well. The doorway
from the original newel stair opens into the
northern room rather than the later stair-well;
at this level there is a third monolithic loop
light. The upper section of the newel stair
remains intact, commencing from a point mid-
way between first and second floors. To the
south of the stair projection, the top landing of
the present stair is lit by a single-light square-
headed window with a chamfered surround.

The northern room (Room 3) has original
single-light windows in its west and east walls,
and a blocked doorway into a garderobe at the
south-east corner; the garderobe chamber has -
been enlarged by removing the division
between it and a second garderobe to the
south, now entered from a modern balcony
overhanging the stair well. Two tiny loops
(presumably one to each former garderobe)
light the enlarged chamber. Above both the
eastern window and the blocked doorway are
large corbels, simply curved on their lower
faces, which presumably carried members of
the original roof; the southern now supports a
modern roof truss. There is a smaller but
similar corbel projecting from the west wall, at
a rather higher level.

The southern second floor room (Room 4) is
lit by a window of two trefoil-headed lights
(original apart from its mullion) at the south
end of the west wall, and there is a similar but
more heavily restored window at the north end
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HEXHAM OLD GAOL West Elevation

Drawn from Rectified Photographs, 1992. PFR
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Fig. 10  Old Gaol: West Elevation.

The present doorway and the window alongside,
along with the patch of walling below the window,
date to the earlier 20th century. The first-floor
windows are of uncertain date (perhaps 17th cen-
tury), and have had their sills lowered at some stage.
The concrete slab at the wall head is recent; there
would originally have been a parapet, perhaps
embattled.

of the east wall. This room preserves two
original fireplaces, both with low segmental-
pointed arches having a continuous chamfer to
head and jambs, in the west and south walls.
Both east and west walls have modern corbels
carrying the roof trusses, but between those on
the east is an infilled socket, presumably for an
older corbel or a transverse beam, with
beneath it what appears to be a smaller socket,
also infilled. South of the modern corbels are
two more infilled sockets. None of these infil-
led sockets have any visible counterparts in the
west wall.



THE TWO TOWERS OF HEXHAM

=

e

205

k'—\
e &

-3
i1
TS
1)
XN ':’-‘Il"
aYanley)'s (D w)

OIS
Pt :;) 5
L) D

o
),

X
“ L T2 )

ST
NS L L =L Lm0 - O sUE L
' ]C?—f&\’fﬁcl? e {E'.-x,v‘
houly @53@8@9 5
QISEOINCS =I5 I
SRR
CCCOC DO
CgCEDODQCJD

I

LS g 0

[T St

Sser o Ess

RS0 S s

P e e —

0 dm

Fig. 11 Old Gaol: North Elevation.
The three-light window, and the Gothick chimney HEXHAM OLD G’AOL
stack topping the wall, are of mid-19th-century date; .
the small trefoil-headed light above the three-light North Elevation

window is an original feature, although its jambs
have been renewed.

Drawn from Rectified Photographs, 1992. PFR
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HEXHAM OLD GAOL East Elevation

Drawn from Rectified Photographs, 1992. PFR
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Fig. 12 Old Gaol: East Elevation.

Some lower parts of the elevation are obscured by
adjacent buildings, and a tree. The two large win-
dows at first-floor level are of mid-19th-century date;
remains of an original two-light window can be seen
between them.

The Roof

The present low-pitched hipped roof of the
building is of recent date, with rather attractive
mid-19th century chimney stacks at each end.
The newel stair rises to a small and squat
turret, which appears of no great age; incorpo-
rated in both its internal and external wall
faces, are several blocks bearing the incised
numbers “1”, “2”” and “3”.
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Fig. 13 Old Gaol: South Elevation.

The three-light window and the chimney stack are
part of the mid-19th-century alterations. A short
distance below the central light of the window is a
tiny circular loop, apparently ventilating the south-
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HEXHAM OLD GAOL

South Elevation
Drawn from Rectified Photographs, 1992. PFR
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HEXHAM OLD GAOL
Transverse Section looking South
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Fig. 14 Old Gaol: Transverse Section looking
south.

The cross wall is only medieval at ground floor level
(note the original doorway, now blocked); its upper
parts are of mid-19th-century date, contemporary
with the insertion of the stair. The brickwork indi-
cates the positions of flues within the wall. The
northern dungeon is shown in cross section. Note
the mural garderobe at second floor level.

The Function of the Old Gaol

The original form and function of the building
are quite clear; it was constructed as a free-
standing tower, to serve primarily as a gaol.
The prisoners would appear to have been
housed on the ground floor and in the dun-
geons beneath. The present entrance is in the
. original position, and opens into a lobby from
which doorways gave access to both the north-
ern of the two ground-floor chambers, and the
newel stair; an entrance lobby also serving the
newel stair is a common feature of 14th- and
15th-century Northumberland towers. Access
between the two ground-floor chambers was by
a two-centred doorway in the centre of the
cross-wall dividing them, probably blocked in
the 19th century, to allow the insertion of a
fireplace in the southern chamber.

The northern chamber at least was provided
with some light from a single-light window high
in the north wall, and a garderobe; the dun-
geons beneath, of classic “oubliette” form,
provided much harsher lodgings; prisoners
would have been quite incapable of egress
without assistance from above. The southern
may have been equipped with a tiny ventilation
slot on the south wall, whilst the northern
shows no sign of any concessions to human
survival at all.

The function of the first floor of the building
poses more of a puzzle. No evidence survives
of any original internal divisions, but the pres-
ence of two-light windows, and a fireplace in
the north wall, suggests that it provided accom-
modation either for higher-status prisoners, or
for one of the Archbishop’s officials.

The second floor was divided into a suite of
rooms, which probably formed the gaoler’s

lodgings. No internal divisions survive,
although the positions of two cross walls, prob-
ably timber-framed partitions can be postu-
lated from sockets in the east wall of the
southern room (see description) and from the
two separate garderobes further north in
the same wall, which it seems unlikely would
open into the same chamber. The two southern
rooms were provided with mural fireplaces,
and two-light windows.

The Structural Development of the Old Gaol

Like the Moot Hall, in overall form the Old
Gaol remains very much as first built; the
majority of its post-medieval features are the
results of relatively recent restoration, to retain
a medieval appearance.

The few architectural features that survive,
the blocked doorway in the ground-floor cross
wall, and the blocked first-floor window of two
trefoil-headed lights in the east wall, would
correlate with the recorded construction date
of 1330-2. There is little clear evidence of later
medieval changes, although the two two-light
windows at first-floor level in the west wall,
with their hollow-chamfered surrounds, could
be 15th- or 16th-century work (with their sills
lowered in the 19th century); however, Carter’s
early 18th-century sketch of the building shows
these with trefoil-headed lights. If Carter is
correct (and his drawing is in error elsewhere;
he shows the surviving two-light second-floor
window as only of a single light) then the
present form of the heads of these windows
must be the result of late 18th- or early 19th-
century changes. By the time of Carter’s sketch
the building had lost its original parapet, and
only the corbels remained; unlike the Moot
Hall, the Old Gaol has never had its parapets
restored.

Carter also sketched a ground plan of the
Old Gaol, showing that an opening had been
knocked through the north end of the west
wall, presumably to give access to one of the
adjacent outbuildings which both he and
Grimm show in their drawings.

16th- and 17th-century records showing the



ARCHAEOLOGIA AELIANA 5 XXII

210

HEXHAM OLD GAOL

Phased Plans

c1330

various 19th century dates

20th century

o %

_ _ _ 111 -
&/

%//%/

First Floor

Basement

Fig. 15



THE TWO TOWERS OF HEXHAM 211

Old Gaol to have been in poor condition have
already been quoted. In 1755 Gentleman’s
Magazine account makes a puzzling reference
to the Gaol as having ‘““a square court on high,
tho’ not near the top” in which the writer
supposed the prisoners were given air during
the day. The only explanation of this would
seem to be that some of the floor timbers,
known to have been in perilous condition at
the time of the 1608 survey, had been removed,
and part of the second (or even the first) floor
lay open to the sky.

The Gaol was last used for its original pur-
pose in 1824, and at some time converted to
use as the Manor Office. It is not clear what
building works were carried out at this stage;
the major structural changes seem to have
taken place towards the middle of the century,
with further alterations in the 1860s and 1870s.
The 1858 Ordnance Survey 10ft:1 mile plan
shows the ground plan of the building much as
it is now, with the central stair inserted and the
central doorway in the cross-wall replaced by
that against the west wall. The one difference is
that the entrance doorway was set to the north
of the older door position, which was occupied
by a window. Several old photographs (e.g.
NCH?227) show this arrangement, with a
square-headed doorway beneath a three-light
overlight, and a three-light square-headed mul-
lioned window adjacent. Apparently the lower
part of the newel stair was removed, with the
intention of converting its well into a lift shaft.
Large three-light windows were inserted into
each end of the building to light the ground
floor. It is possible that the second floor brick
(?) vault is also of this period.

The date of the latest phase of restoration
has not yet been ascertained, but it seems likely
to have been in the 1920s or 1930s. At this time
the newel stair well—but not the staircase—
was restored, and the entrance doorway moved
back into its original position; the foot of the
stair well was provided with a suitably medi-
eval window of two trefoil-headed lights, and
other genuine medieval features, such as the
second-floor two-light window in the west wall,
restored (a new mullion being provided). At
some stage, either in the 19th or early 20th

century, the dungeons were ‘“rediscovered”
and cleared out. .

The most recent phase of restoration took
place in the late 1970s, when the building was
converted to its present use as the Middle
March Museum of Border History. 19th-
century fittings were removed, and plaster
stripped from some walls (exposing the patch-
work of rubble and brick in the walls flanking
the stair, which was never intended to be
visible, and conveys a misleading air of
antiquity); an entirely new roof was construc-
ted at this time. Only the first-floor strong
room was left unaltered.

Some of the 19th-century accounts of the
building refer to it as containing an ancient oak
mantel-piece, probably of 16th- or early 17th-
century date, bearing an enigmatic inscription;
the best account is by Wright (1823, frontis-
piece and 110, 111). The fate of this seems to be
unknown.

V OTHER REMAINS OF MEDIEVAL
STRUCTURES WITHIN THE
ARCHBISHOP’S PRECINCT

A The Vaulted Basement on Hallstile Bank

On the south side of Hallstile Bank are the
remains of the basement of a building of uncer-
tain date; the remains consist of two bays of a
vaulted basement or cellar. Each roughly
square bay has had a plain cross- or groin-
vault; the vault of the eastern bay has largely
fallen but the western (walled off from the
eastern by a later brick cross-wall) remains
intact, and now carries a brick superstructure
which forms the rear wing to an apparently
18th-century house incorporated in the present
Prospect House complex.

The Basement

The western bay of the basement is a trape-
zoidal chamber c. 4-3 by 3-7m; the vault is more
of a north-south barrel vault with an embay-
ment cut into it at either end, than a true groin
vault. The present eastern wall of the cellar is
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VAULTED BASEMENT ON HALLSTILE BANK, HEXHAM
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of brick, with a broad elliptical-headed arch,
now also blocked by a brick wall containing a
small window.

Externally, the wall of the basement fronting
on to Hallstile Bank is built of roughly-squared
stone laid in rather irregular courses, varying
somewhat in height; access to the chamber is
by rebated doorway with a segmental arched
head, jambs and head carrying the narrowest of
chamfers. To the east of the doorway is a
shallow three-stepped buttress; to the west a
straight joint suggests that a feature of similar
width has been removed at some stage. The
wall survives to a height of c.1m above the
floor level of the brick superstructure; at this
level the east end of the wall stands forwards as
a buttress-like feature 1-29m thick, capped by a
triple-stepped course of brickwork which is
carried along the north wall. Only 0-35m of the
external face of the west wall is exposed, but
this shows a chamfered set-back about 3m
above the present ground level.

The eastern bay is less well preserved; its
vault, about a third of which remains, appears
to have been of precisely similar type to that in
the western bay. The ruined eastern wall, and
the surviving stub of the north wall, have both
been “tidied up” in recent years, so it is
difficult to tell how much old fabric survives. A
later structure has been built into the south-
east angle, to form a small store (for coal?); the
area has also been re-paved relatively recently.
There is a blocked opening, possibly a window,
in the east wall, but the wall is so heavily
altered that it is difficult to comment on its
original form.

The Superstructure

The two-storeyed building carried by the west-
ern bay of the basement is of brick (in English
Garden Wall bond 1 and 3) except for (as
already described) the lower part of its north
wall. Its lower storey has a rather extraordinary
set of three arches in its east wall (now opening
onto a verandah or terrace contrived above the
remains of the vault of the eastern bay); they
have a continuous strip hoodmould; the south-
ern is now blocked, but the others contain
boarded partitions with a door and window.

The upper floor has two windows in the east
wall, both apparently relatively recent (a
straight joint further south suggests earlier
openings), and a round-headed window with a
similar hoodmould to the three arches, in the
north gable; the gable has a stepped coping
(like the end gables of the 18th-century house
to the south) which may be secondary.

Discussion

A number of irregularities in the fabric and
plan of the western bay of the basement—
projecting footings at the foot of the internal
face of the south wall, a strange step-forward in
the west wall, and the peculiar westward thin-
ning of the north wall, together with the
straight joint in the external face of the north
wall, all combine to suggest that the basement
is, in its present form, a remodelling of an older
structure. Both the vault and the doorway onto
Hallstile Bank could be of late 17th or early
18th century; the stonework of the external
wall faces is very similar to that of the house
immediately to the south, which bears a sundial
dated “1728” (although it has some puzzling
features, notable a narrow single-light window
with a round-arched head within a square
frame; this looks 19th-century work in its pres-
ent form, but might reproduce an older fea-
ture). The vault and external refacing, together
with the cross-wall between the two basement
bays, may be coeval with the brick super-
structure; the original building may well be
medieval.

The question arises as to the function of the
original building. Sited as it is alongside the
steepest and narrowest part of Hallstile Bank,
and in close proximity to the medieval build-
ings of the “Archbishop’s Precinct” (the Moot
Hall and Old Gaol), it is tempting to see it as
part of a gatehouse. Of particular relevance to
this interpretation are the positioning of the
buttress, and the corresponding straight joint,
on either side of the doorway into the western
bay of the basement. It would be possible to
see these as indicating the positions of the
responds of the inner and outer arches of a
gatehouse—the buttress (0-98m across) a
remodelling of the respond of the outer arch,



214 ARCHAEOLOGIA AELIANA 5 XXII

the straight joint (0-99m from the west end of
the wall) indicating the position of respond of
the inner. An old photograph of Hallstile Bank
(copy loaned by Mr. Colin Dallison) shows the
north wall of the eastern bay standing, and
what appears to be a third jamb, apparently
rebated, at its north-east corner; this is an
important piece of evidence, and strengthens
the case for there being a gatehouse in this
position, with three arches spanning the Bank
(much as three arches span the passage
through the Moot Hall).

Hodges’ earlier plan of the site (Hodges
1888, plate 53) shows this vault, as if both bays
comprised the northern half of a larger apart-
ment having a central pier, as a medieval
building; he also indicates a 16th or 17th cen-
tury structure as adjoining the vault to the east;
a building in this position is figured on the 1858
10ft:1 mile Ordnance survey plan but had dis-
appeared by the time of the 2nd edition
25 in:1 mile map of 1895-7.

B The Retaining Wall to the north and north-
east of Prospect House

Immediately to the east of the ruined eastern
bay of the cellar, is a tall retaining wall bound-
ing the grounds of Prospect House (now a car
park). The initial 2-8m long section of this has
a lower section of coursed rubble, and an
upper, clearly 19th century, of snecked stone;
at the foot of the wall are what appear to be the
projecting footings of an earlier wall.

Beyond two large buttresses, which with
their moulded set-backs and sloped tops, look
late 19th-century work, the wall changes char-
acter to larger well-squared stone; this section,
9m long, may be in situ medieval masonry, and
is presumably what Hewitt (1879, 87) identifies
as part of a “strong circumvaliation”. It termi-
nates at a third, smaller, 19th-century buttress,
beyond which is a short length of wall of
rubble, before a flight of steps terminates this
section of retaining wall; the wall beyond,
which follows the crest of the slope, appears to
be of 19th-century date.

C Wall of Range of Buidings south of
Prospect House

The southern range of the Tynedale Council
Offices complex is formed by a row of three
buildings fronting onto the narrow unnamed
street adjacent to the north end of the Old
Gaol. The central of these buildings is a three-
bay brick house of 18th-century date; the west-
ern is of stone, with a stepped western gable
with architectural features that seem to be of
earlier 20th-century date, but with older
masonry incorporated in its south wall. This
wall has two 20th-century windows and, mid-
way between ground and first floor levels, a
strange blind slit window that looks relatively
freshly cut; the masonry is of large sandstone
blocks, which are of a similar character, and
show a similar degree of wear, to those of the
Old Gaol a few metres away, but the wall is not
especially thick. The stonework seems likely to
be medieval material, but whether it is in situ
or not is not clear.

D Wall adjoining the South-West Corner of

the Old Gaol

A few stones of the footings of an old wall,
apparently running south-west from the corner
of the Old Gaol are exposed here, beneath
more recent steps, in the narrow gap between
the angle of the Old Gaol and the wall along-
side Hallgate. Whilst post-dating the Old Gaol,
the footings may possibly be of later medieval
date.

E Walling incorporated in Blinkers Coffee
Shop

Blinkers Coffee Shop occupies part of the rear
wing of a range of largely 18th-century build-
ings fronting onto Hallgate, immediately to the
south-east of the Old Gaol. The lower section
of the west wall of the wing, up to a broad
chamfered set-back ¢.2m above ground level,
is around 1m thick; its external face of roughly
coursed rubble, is not of particularly ancient
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appearance, but its thickness suggests that
medieval fabric may survive.

F  Footings of a wall outside the south-west
gable of the Old Grammar School

The Old Grammar School, occupying the
extreme end of the spur on which the Arch-
bishop’s buildings were situated, was built in
1684, although the window with three-trefoil
headed lights in its north-east gable end looks
like a re-used medieval feature (in contrast to
the other trefoil-headed windows which are
clearly 17th century). Running parallel to, and
less than a metre from, the south-west end of
the Old School the footings of a wall have
recently been exposed and incorporated in the
present paving; the wall is of no great thick-
ness, but presumably pre-dates the Old School;
if standing it would block the windows in the
School gable.

G Bank Head House

This house, to the east of the Old Gaol and
facing eastward at the top of the steep scarp
slope, has an 18th-century brick front but older
rubble masonry in both gable ends; this looks
to be of 17th century or earlier date; more
interesting still is the fact that the brick front
wall appears to have a chamfered stone plinth
at its foot, which could be a medieval feature,
suggesting that the house stands on the site of,
and incorporates some of the fabric of, an
earlier structure.

H Piece of Enceinte Wall to North-West of
Moot Hall

Hodges’ second plan (Hodges and Gibson
1919) no longer shows the cellar on Hallstile
Bank as a medieval building, but does indicate
the thick northern wall of the house at the
north-west corner of the group adjoining the
Moot Hall as a “piece of the enceinte wall”’;
this wall was demolished in 1951 when the old

properties in this area were cleared, although it
is conceivable that its lower courses survive in
the retaining wall between the roadway adja-
cent to the Moot Hall and the upper section of
Hallstile Bank.

VI SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION
THE TWO TOWERS AND THE
PRECINCT

Despite the relatively good condition of the
two surviving buildings, it is very difficult to
reconstruct the layout of the medieval precinct.
Several writers have termed the site “Hexham
Castle” (e.g. Long 1967, 119-21) but there is
neither documentary nor archaeological justifi-
cation for this terminology.

The Moot Hall clearly functioned as a gate-
house to some sort of enclosure, whilst the Old
Gaol (sometimes referred to, understandably
but quite inaccurately, as a “Keep”) stood
within it. The topography of the site and town
enable the boundaries of the enclosure to be
predicted fairly accurately (at least on the
north and east), but apart from the stub of wall
running east from the Moot Hall, the only
possible candidate for a surviving length of
precinct boundary wall is the retaining wall
north-east of Prospect House (B). The vaulted
cellar on Hallstile Bank (A) has been identified
as the base of a tower (Bulmer 1886, 324) but if
indeed its basic structure is medieval, it would
seem more likely to be part of a gateway
athwart the road. The section of ‘enceinte
wall” identified by Hodges (H) is also difficult
to relate to any reconstructed precinct bound-
ary, and especially to the stub of wall adjoining
the Moot Hall.

A variety of buildings must have existed
within the enclosure; possibly a hall, almost
certainly lodgings for various officials, prob-
ably stables and barns. The other fragments of
possible medieval masonry enumerated above
are all too minor to interpret; large-scale
archaeological excavation would be necessary
before we are able to reconstruct the medieval
arrangement of buildings within the precinct.
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Archaeological Implications

As far as is known, no archaeological excava-
tion has ever been carried out within the area
of the Archbishop’s precinct. Despite the fact
that a considerable proportion of the area is
now built over, the whole area must be
regarded as “archaeologically sensitive”’. Many
questions remain unanswered as to the nature
of the medieval buiidings on the site, and, even
more tantalizingly, about its pre-medieval use.
The fact that Wilfrid’s monastery stood to the
west of what is now the market place suggests
that, as early as the 7th century, the prime spur-
end site at Hestaldesham was already occupied,
perhaps, as this was a royal estate centre, by
some form of palace or royal residence.

Many opportunities for archaeological inves-
tigation have already been lost, here, as else-
where in Hexham. Any works that involve
significant excavation of deposits (or demoli-
tion of above-ground structures) will, at the
very least, require archaeological monitoring.
This applies to areas currently beneath tarmac
(notably the Prospect House car park) as well
as those currently built over.

A Centre of Administration for One and a
half Millennia?

Whilst the Dark Age palace site is still a matter
of conjecture (albeit reasoned conjecture), the
importance of the medieval Archbishop’s build-
ings is both documented and demonstrated by
the surviving Moot Hall and Old Gaol. The
current occupation of much of the site by the
Tynedale District Council Offices is a note-
worthy example of the continuity of a function,
as a regional centre of administration, for at
least 800 years, and possibly almost double
that.
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